IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

CASE NO. SC06-1401

GARY LAMAR POLITE,

Petitioner,

-VS-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Carlos F. Gonzalez, Esq. Florida Bar No. 0494631 Diaz, Reus, Rolff & Targ, LLP Counsel For Petitioner 2600 Bank of America Tower 100 S.E. 2nd Street Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone (305) 375-9220 Telecopier (305) 375-8050 cgonzalez@drrtlaw.com

INTRODUCTION

This case arises out of the prosecution and conviction of Gary Lamar Polite ("Polite" or "Petitioner"), a 38-year-old homeless man, whose apparent effort to extract some coins from a parking meter ended in charges of resisting an undercover officer with violence. The legal issue here – first raised at trial and subsequently considered by the Third District Court of Appeal in three opinions, after three oral arguments before the same panel – concerns whether "knowledge" of a police officer's official status is an element of resisting an officer with violence under section 843.01, Florida Statutes.

The Third District ultimately found that the State need not prove that Polite knew of the officer's official status in order to be guilty of resisting with violence. The court erred. Not only is the Third District's construction inconsistent with established canons of statutory construction, it cuts against the well-established rule that statutory offenses should not be read to exclude the *scienter* or *mens rea* element. If this Court affirms the Third District's decision, Florida's citizens will be forced into the untenable position of having to submit to every individual who claims to be a police officer, even if they are not readily identifiable as such, or risk violating section 843.01 and receiving a long prison sentence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Evidence at Trial

On the evening of December 16, 2002, Officer Marcos Muñoz ("**Muñoz**" or "**Officer Muñoz**") observed Gary Polite, a homeless, thirty-eight-year-old man, shaking and poking a parking meter in downtown Miami in an apparent effort to extract some coins. T.192-94, 197-99, 201-02, 209-11. Tampering with a parking meter is a misdemeanor and Officer Muñoz testified that he moved in for an arrest. T.192-93. Because he was working undercover, the officer wore a t-shirt and a plaid, button-down shirt to conceal his weapon and other "police utensils." T.200.

According to Officer Muñoz, he pulled out his badge, grabbed hold of his handcuffs and seized Polite's wrist while simultaneously identifying himself as a police officer. T.194-95. Polite "pulled away" and the officer grabbed his shoulders and clothing. T.195, 203. Muñoz ordered Polite not to resist. T.195, 203. Polite fell to one knee, and Muñoz tried to handcuff him, but Polite's clothing "slipped away." T.195, 203. Officer Muñoz testified that Polite threw some punches in the air and mumbled something before fleeing the scene. T.195, 205. None of Polite's errant punches struck Muñoz. T.205.

2

References to "R." and "T." followed by a page number refer to the record and transcripts on appeal, respectively.

At some point during their confrontation, Officer Muñoz called for back-up. T.172. Officer Octavio Santiago ("Santiago" or "Officer Santiago") later observed Polite riding a bicycle. T.176. Unlike the undercover Muñoz, Officer Santiago wore blue shorts and a white shirt which prominently displayed a blue badge and the word "POLICE" across the back. T.170. Handcuffs and a service revolver completed the officer's uniform. *Id*.

Santiago testified that Polite rode a bicycle to within fifteen feet of where he stood, got off, and approached. T. 175-76. The officer identified himself and ordered Polite to stop. T. 176. Polite complied without a struggle. T. 171-72. At several points throughout his direct examination, Officer Santiago remarked that Polite was "very cooperative" at the time of his arrest. T. 171-72, 175, 177.

Officer Santiago further testified that Polite told him he did not know Officer Muñoz was, in fact, a police officer. T. 177-78. This did not surprise Santiago. The officer explained that while it was "obvious" that he was a police officer, Muñoz looked like a "civilian." T. 170-71. As Officer Santiago testified, the "goal of being undercover is to be unidentifiable as a police officer." T. 173. Yet, while such disguises can aid law enforcement, they can also confuse citizens about a police officer's official status. Indeed,

Officer Santiago acknowledged that people have sometimes impersonated police officers. T. 173.

The State's Closing Argument

Polite defended against the charge of resisting an officer with violence on the ground that he did not know Officer Muñoz's official status. T.225. However, during their closing argument, the prosecutors urged the jurors that Polite did not have to know he was resisting an officer to be guilty. Over defense objection, Assistant State Attorney Christina Martyak ("Martyak") stated:

Now, defense counsel called Officer Santiago to the stand. Remember what he told you? They asked, did the defendant say anything and he said, yes. He said that he wasn't sure if Officer Muñoz was a police officer. And you were here. Do I have to prove it to you that the Defendant knows the officer is a police officer?

I don't have to prove that to you.

T. 240.

At the close of Martyak's argument, defense counsel requested a curative instruction advising the jurors "that they do need to find that Mr. Polite actually believed that this person was a police officer." T. 242.

Defense counsel stressed that Polite bottomed his defense on the fact that he

"did not believe that [the] person he was resisting was an officer" T. 243. Assistant State Attorney Barnaby Min ("Min") responded that the standard jury instructions for resisting an officer with violence did not require proof that the defendant knew that the victim was a police officer. T. 244. The court denied defense counsel's request for a curative instruction on the basis that "the instructions cover it" T. 245.

When Min later delivered the State's rebuttal closing argument, he, like Martyak, told jurors that Polite's knowledge of Officer Muñoz's status would not be part of their deliberations:

[Defense] Counsel refers to this board and points out the word knowingly. What does the defendant on this board have to know? He has to know that he is resisting. He has to know that he is obstructing, and he has to know that he is opposing. That's all he has to know. That word knowingly goes to those accidents where he just all of a sudden moved your arm back.

T. 251. Again, the lower court overruled defense counsel's objection, thus allowing Min to persist in his claim that Polite's knowledge of Officer Muñoz's status would not play a role in the jurors' deliberations:

That knowingly goes to that element. Knowingly resisted, knowingly obstructed, knowingly opposed. Did he knowingly and willfully swing his arms? Did he knowingly and willfully resist? Did he knowingly and willfully oppose? That's what the word knowingly goes to.

Nowhere in this jury instruction or in the instructions that the Judge is going to read to you or in the instructions that you are going to get and take back to the jury room with you nowhere are you going to see the words that he knew he was a police officer.

T. 250-51.

At the close of Min's argument, defense counsel again requested that the jurors be instructed that Polite could not be convicted unless he knew of Officer Muñoz's official status. T. 255-56. The trial court declined to do so, and the defense then moved for a mistrial. T. 256. Defense counsel explained that the State's improper closing argument "led the jury astray" and effectively undermined Polite's sole defense at trial. T. 256. The trial court, again, denied relief. *Id*.

Thirty-seven minutes after beginning their deliberations, the jurors returned a guilty verdict. R. 22-24; T. 273. The trial court sentenced Polite to seven and one half years in prison with a five year minimum mandatory term of incarceration. R. 207-08.

Polite I

In a per curiam decision citing only *O'Brien v. State*, 771 So. 2d 563 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000), the Third District affirmed Polite's conviction and sentence. *Polite v. State*, Case No. 3D03-2819 (Fla. 3d DCA Aug. 11, 2004). Notably, *O'Brien* found that knowledge of an officer's official status

constituted an element of resisting an officer with violence. *Id.* at 565. Because of this finding, the court rejected the defendant's claim that the trial court erred in denying his request for a special jury instruction which would have required jurors to determine whether he knew of the officer's official status. *Id.* at 564-65. As the Fourth District explained, "the instruction advised the jury that they had to find that O'Brien knew that he was resisting an officer." *Id.* at 565.

Polite II

Polite moved for rehearing, after which the Third District reversed his conviction and sentence. *Polite v. State*, 934 So. 2d 496 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005). The majority found that knowledge of a law enforcement officer's official status constituted "an indispensable element of the crime in question." *Id.* at 497. As a consequence, the majority ruled that the prosecution "erroneously informed the jury that it was *not* necessary to establish [the defendant's knowledge] to convict the defendant." *Id.* (emphasis in original). Thus, the court found that the trial judge's "refusal, upon appropriate objections and requests for curative instruction, to disabuse the jury of this erroneous notion and to inform it of the correct law, with the result that it was affirmatively misled as to the only real defense in the case, requires a new trial." *Id.* at 497-98.

The dissent took a different tack, concluding that the State did not have to prove that Polite knew of Officer Muñoz's official status. *Id.* at 498 (Gersten, J., dissenting). Instead, the dissent reasoned, "the State could present circumstantial evidence that the defendant should have reasonably known that Officer Muñoz was an officer." *Id.* at 499 (internal quotation marks omitted).

Polite III

Following the decision in *Polite II*, the State moved for rehearing and the Third District issued a third decision, this time affirming Polite's conviction and sentence. *Polite v. State*, 933 So. 2d 597 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006). The court's unanimous ruling held that "knowledge of the victim's status is not an element of the offense of resisting an officer with violence." *Id.* at 589. Focusing on the statute's plain language, the Third District explained 'that the legislature did not include knowledge of the victim's status as an element of the offense." *Id.*

The court reasoned that "knowingly and willfully" were "adverbial terms" that only modified the verbs "resists, obstructs or opposes," and not "law enforcement officer." *Id.* The court justified its about-face by noting that (1) resisting an officer with violence is not a specific intent crime; (2) its holding best comported with section 843.01's goal of "preventing the

hindrance of the government and [in the] protection of individual officers," and (3) if the legislature intended knowledge of an officer's official status to be an element of the offense, it would have said so. *Id.* at 590-93.

Finally, the court addressed the issue of whether the State's comments during closing argument – even if they did not misrepresent the law – undermined Polite's sole defense at trial. *Id.* at 593. Notably, the court wrote:

Of course, when, as below, the defendant presents evidence that he did not know that the victim was an officer, that the victim did not reasonably appear to be an officer, or that the officer used unlawful or excessive force, he may, as he did here, raise an appropriate defense to that effect.

Id. The court concluded, however, that "the availability of such a defense, which was implicitly rejected by the jury in this case, does not render knowledge an element of the offense itself which must be established by the state." *Id.* Significantly, the court did not reconcile its approval of Polite's theory of defense with its finding that prosecutors could tell jurors to ignore whether Polite knew of the officer's official status.

The Third District Certifies Conflict

As part of its decision in *Polite III*, the Third District certified direct conflict with the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in *A.F. v. State*, 905 So. 2d 1010 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005). *Polite*, 933 So. 2d at 594. A.F.

concerned a juvenile charged with resisting an officer with violence. *A.F.*, 905 So. 2d at 1011. The charges against A.F. arose when Officer Ronald Kelly responded to a complaint that someone was swimming in a closed and locked apartment complex pool. *Id.*

Kelly arrived at the scene wearing "sweat pants and a T-shirt, with tennis shoes. He was not wearing his badge, or a shirt that said 'Titusville Police Department,' and there was nothing else to indicate he was a police officer." *Id.* Upon arrival, Officer Kelly observed A.F. and her friend walking away from the pool area. *Id.* Although it was not clear whether they had been swimming, Kelly walked over and attempted to question the two. *Id.* According to Kelly, A.F. and her friend were belligerent and rude and a "little confrontation" ensued. *Id.*

At the same time Kelly identified himself as a police officer, A.F. fled the scene. *Id.* Kelly, gave chase, again identifying himself as a police officer and saying, "Stop, police." *Id.* Kelly eventually caught up to A.F., a young, 117-pound female, and tackled her to the ground. *Id.* The officer injured himself in the fall. *Id.* According to Kelly, A.F. kicked, screamed, scratched, and punched. *Id.* Back up officers arrived and took A.F. into custody. *Id.*

On appeal, A.F. maintained that the trial court erred in denying her motion for judgment of acquittal because the State failed to prove that she resisted a person she knew to be a police officer. *Id.* 1011-12. The Fifth District agreed. While "[a] person is not justified in using force to resist a police officer who is known or reasonably appears to be a law enforcement officer," the court explained that "the accused must have reason to know that the victim is an officer." *Id.* at 1012 (internal citations and quotation marks omitted).

The court reasoned that "a citizen should not be required to respond with submission any time someone claims to be a police officer." *Id.* As the court noted, "[i]t is an all too sad fact that persons have been victimized as a result of their trusting criminals who were impersonating police officers to facilitate crimes." *Id.* (quoting, *W.E.P. v. State*, 790 So. 2d 1166, 1172 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001) (citing *Miller v. State*, 748 So. 2d 327 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999))).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner has demonstrated that knowledge of a police officer's official status is an essential element of resisting an officer with violence. Petitioner's interpretation best accords with established canons of statutory construction. Section 843.01 is part of a comprehensive scheme of statutes, including sections 776.051 (1), 784.07 (2), and 843.02, designed to protect

law enforcement officers and ensure that they are not hindered in the performance of their legal duties. Yet, while these statutes all require knowledge of a law enforcement officer's official status, the Third District has read section 843.01 to not require such proof. This is error. Section 843.01 must be read in *pari materia* with those statutes addressing officer safety and efforts to hinder them in the performance of their duties. In order to harmonize these statutes, section 843.01 must include a similar knowledge element.

Another rule of statutory construction provides that where criminal statutes are subject to varying constructions, they must be read so as to benefit the defendant. As it stands, the Third District's interpretation of section 843.01 is at odds with both the Fifth District's decision in *A.F. v. State*, 995 So. 2d 1010 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005) (with which the Third District certified conflict) and the First District's opinion in *Cooper v. State*, 742 So. 2d 855 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999). The conflict among the districts compels adoption of Petitioner's construction of section 843.01.

The rules of statutory construction also require that each word in a statute be given meaning so as not to be rendered mere surplusage. In its decision, the Third District explained that the phrase "knowingly and willfully" only modified the verbs "resists, obstructs, or opposes," and had

"willfully" by its own definition includes a knowledge component so that in acting willfully, the actor is already presumed to have a certain level of knowledge regarding their actions. Thus, the term "knowingly" cannot be read in conjunction with the term "willfully," but must be given independent meaning.

Additionally, Petitioner's interpretation of section 843.01 also best comports with the doctrine of *scienter*. By not requiring knowledge of a police officer's official status, the Third District rendered section 843.01 a strict liability offense. Yet, this Court has made it clear that statutory offenses which do not carry a *scienter* or *mens rea* element are rare and disfavored.

Last, public policy compels that Petitioner's interpretation be accepted. The First and Fifth Districts have recognized that individuals often impersonate police officers and use a citizen's natural inclination to obey or cooperate with law enforcement as an opportunity to commit criminal acts. As it stands, the Third District has placed Florida's citizens in the untenable position of having to submit to every person who claims to be a police officer, even if they are not readily identifiable as such, or risk a lengthy prison sentence for violating section 843.01. Accordingly, the Third

District's construction of section 843.01 should be rejected in favor of the Fifth District's decision in *A.F.*

ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD FIND THAT KNOWLEDGE OF A POLICE OFFICER'S OFFICIAL STATUS IS AN ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF RESISTING AN OFFICER WITH VIOLENCE

"In resolving the present issue of the proper interpretation of section 843.01, the starting point, as always, is the statute itself." *Polite*, 933 So. 2d at 589. As relevant here, section 843.01 provides:

Whoever knowingly and willfully resists, obstructs, or opposes any officer as defined in s. 943.10 (1), (2), (3), (6), (7), (8), or (9); . . . by offering or doing violence to the person of such officer . . . is guilty of a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.093, or s. 775.084.

Because the word "knowingly" appears on the face of the statute, the question below, as before this Court, "is what the word refers to." *Polite*, 933 So. 2d 589.

The Third District found that the "plain language of section 843.01 shows that the legislature did not include knowledge *of the victim's status* as an element of the offense." *Id.* (emphasis in original). According to the court, "the adverbial terms 'knowingly and willfully' modify the verbs 'resists, obstructs or opposes' rather than the entire phrase." *Id.* In support

of this construction, the Third District noted that (1) resisting an officer with violence is not a specific intent crime; (2) its interpretation of the statute best served the goal of "preventing the hindrance of the government and [in the] protection of individual officers"; and (3) the legislature chose to write the statute so as not to require knowledge of an officer's official status. *Id.* at 590-93. The Third District erred.

A. Petitioner's Interpretation Best Accounts for the Legislature's Use of the Term "Knowingly" in Section 843.01

A basic principle of statutory construction requires courts to "construe related[statutory] provisions in harmony with one another." *Hechtman, v. Nations Title Ins. of New York,* 840 So. 2d 993, 996 (Fla. 2003); *accord Unruh v. State,* 669 So. 2d 242, 245 (Fla. 1996). In *Polite III,* the Third District identified the goal of section 843.01 as "preventing the hindrance of the government and [in the] protection of individual officers." 993 So. 2d at 587. Indeed, section 843.01 is part of a comprehensive scheme of statutes designed to protect law enforcement officers and ensure that they are free to perform their legal duties.

Section 843.02 makes it a first degree misdemeanor to "resist, obstruct, or oppose any officer . . . in the lawful execution of any legal duty, without offering or doing violence to the person of the officer . . ." While

section 843.02 does not expressly contain a knowledge element, the First District has held that knowledge of the officer's official status is an element of the offense. *Cooper v. State*, 742 So. 2d 855 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999). The court noted that it had previously found that "knowledge [on the part of the defendant] that the officer intended to detain him or her" was an essential element of resisting without violence. *Id.* at 855. Implicit in such a holding, the court explained, was the additional requirement that "the defendant know that the person effectuating the detention is a police officer." *Id.*

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