#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-1401 L.T. CASE NO. 3D03-2819

#### GARY LAMAR POLITE,

Petitioner,

-VS-

#### THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. Attorney General

RICHARD L. POLIN Criminal Appeals Bureau Chief, Miami Florida Bar Number 0230987

LUCRETIA A. PITTS Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar Number 0388238

Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite 650 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-5441 (o) (305) 377-5655 (f)

# **

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The plain language of § 843.01, resisting arrest with violence statute, does not include knowledge of the victim's status as an element. The adverb "knowingly" modifies the verbs "resists, opposes, and obstructs" and does not modify the nouns, including officer, in the statute.

This Court has already held that § 843.01 must be read *in pari materia* with § 776.051, use of force in resisting arrest or making an arrest statute. Section 776.051 is an affirmative defense statute and it includes the knowledge element of the police officer's status; therefore, the legislative intent of the statutory construction is that the knowledge element is an affirmative defense when violence is used to resist arrest. Section 776.051 allows for the alternatives of actual and constructive knowledge to justify the use of force, and in the case at bar, the prosecutors properly argued that the evidence supported the conclusion that Defendant had a constructive knowledge of the officer's status.

This Court has held that § 843.01 is a general intent offense that includes an intent to commit the act performed (actus reus) and does not contain a heightened or particularized intent beyond the act performed. This conclusion is consistent with a conclusion that § 843.01 does not require an offender's knowledge of the victim's status, which would be a heightened or particularized intent on the offender's state of mind at the time of performing an act.

12

Finally, in an analogous federal statute on forcibly assaulting or resisting a federal officer, the Supreme Court of the United States held that there is no knowledge element of the officer's status. Also, the Court reasoned that undercover and uniformed officers' safety outweighs the needs of the citizenry to commit violence, because violence is wrong all the time no matter the victim's status.

#### ARGUMENTS

THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY HELD THAT KNOWLEDGE OF A POLICE OFFICER'S STATUS IS NOT AN ELEMENT OF RESISTING ARREST WITH VIOLENCE. (Restated)

This Court has long recognized that the legislature has the power to define crimes and to set punishment. <u>Rusaw v. State</u>, 451 So. 2d 469, 470 (Fla. 1984). When the definitions of the laws are challenged, the courts apply the principles of statutory construction to interpret the statutes. <u>Maddox v. State</u>, 923 So. 2d 442 (Fla. 2006). In the case at bar, the Third District Court of Appeal was called upon to interpret the resisting an officer with violence statute. The statute reads as follows:

Whoever knowingly and willfully resists, obstructs, or opposes any officer as defined in s. 943.10(1), (2), (3), (6), (7), (8), or (9); member of the Parole Commission or any administrative aide or supervisor employed by the commission; parole and probation supervisor; county probation officer; personnel or representative of the Department of Law Enforcement; or other person legally authorized to execute process in the execution of legal process or in the lawful execution of any legal duty, by offering or doing violence to the person of such officer or legally authorized person, is guilty of a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084.

§ 843.01, Fla. Stat. (2002). The Third District correctly determined that resisting an officer with violence does not require as an essential element knowledge of the police officer's status based on (1) the plain language of the statute, including the failure of the legislature to expressly include the condition, (2) the offense's status as a general intent crime, and (3) policy considerations, including the distinction between resisting without violence and resisting with violence. 933 So. 2d at 587-593. The court also held that when the offense is read *in pari materia* with § 776.051, knowledge of the officer's status is a defense that was rejected by the jury in this case. Id. at 593.

# A. The Plain Language of § 843.01 Does Not Include Knowledge of the Victim's Status as an Essential Element.

This Court has "explained that as a fundamental principle of statutory construction, 'legislative intent is the polestar that guides the Court's inquiry' and is derived primarily from the language of the statute." <u>State v. Bodden</u>, 877 So. 2d 680 (Fla. 2004) (quoting <u>McLaughlin v. State</u>, 721 So. 2d 1170, 1172 (Fla. 1998)). This Court further explained that "'[t]he legislature is presumed to know the meaning of words and the rules of grammar, and the only way the court is advised of what the legislature intends is by giving the generally accepted construction, not only to the phraseology of an act, but to the manner in which it is punctuated.'" <u>Id</u>. (citing to <u>Florida State Racing Commission v. Bourquardez</u>, 42 So. 2d 87, 88 (Fla. 1949)).

"It is well settled that adverbs modify only verbs, adjectives, other adverbs, or in some instances entire sentences . . . nouns cannot be modified by adverbs. 'An adverb, an adverbial phrase, or an adverbial clause may qualify several parts of speech, but a noun is not one of them.'" <u>Wausau Insurance Co. v. Haynes</u>, 683 So. 2d 1123, 1126 n. 2 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) (Farmer, J., concurring specially) (citing to Theodore M. Bernstein, <u>The Careful Writer</u>, 23 (1977)). <u>See also</u> <u>Reynolds v. State</u>, 842 So. 2d 46 (Fla. 2002) (within phrases constructions adjectives modify nouns).<sup>1</sup>

Based upon this grammatic principle, the Third District correctly concluded that "the adverbial terms 'knowingly and willfully' modify the verbs 'resists, obstructs or opposes' rather than the entire phrase." 933 So. 2d at 590. Adverbs do

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In <u>Reynolds</u>, the defendant was convicted of felony animal cruelty, which required "a person who intentionally commits an act to any animal which results in the cruel death, or excessive or repeated infliction of unnecessary pain or suffering." 842 So. 2d at 47. On appeal, the defendant argued that the word "intentionally" should modify more than the verb "commits," but should also modify the result of cruel death and excessive or repeated infliction of unnecessary pain or suffering. <u>Id.</u> at 48. The court stated that the defendant's reading of the statute would require the statute to state: "a person who intentionally commits an act to any animal which **intentionally** results in the cruel death, or excessive or repeated infliction of unnecessary pain or suffering." <u>Id.</u> at 49 n2. The court rejected this construction by stating that "not only would this result in the insertion of a word that is not present, it would also change the meaning of the statute. When construing statutes, courts 'are not at liberty to add words to statutes that were not placed there by the Legislature." <u>Id.</u> (citing to <u>Hayes v. State</u>, 750 So. 2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1999)).

not modify nouns; therefore, the adverbs "knowingly and willfully" do not modify the noun "officer," or any of the other listed positions.

A conclusion that the adverb "knowingly" modified the nouns, including officer, in § 843.01 would be outside the plain language of the statute and would actually be a "recast" of the statute to require a heightened or particularized knowledge element. See Reynolds, 842 So. 2d at 46; Frey v. State, 708 So. 2d 918, 920 n.2 (Fla. 1998) (§ 843.01 could be recast outside of its present plain language to satisfy a heightened or particularized intent if it stated "whoever knowingly and willfully resists, obstructs, or opposes any officer . . . with the intent of doing violence to the person of such officer."). The plain language that would require proof that a defendant knew or should have known that he or she was resisting an officer or other qualified position under § 843.01 would read: "whoever knowingly and willfully resists, obstructs, or opposes a known officer, [etc.]." If the legislature desired to include knowledge of the victim's status as an element of the offense, it would have expressly included the condition. However, the plain language of § 843.01 does not modify the nouns nor does it expand its knowledge element beyond the knowledge of the defendant's action. See Exposito v. State, 891 So. 2d 525, 528 (Fla. 2004) ("[T]his Court must give the statutory language its plain and ordinary meaning, and is not at liberty to add words . . . that were not placed there by the Legislature.")). Therefore, the State is not required to prove

Defendant's knowledge of the officer's status based on the plain language of the statute.

# B. When § 843.01 is Read *In Pari Materia* with the Related Statute, the Interpretation of the Legislative Intent is that Knowledge of the Officer's Status is Not an Essential Element.

"It is a recognized rule of statutory construction that statutes which relate to the same person or thing or to the same class of persons or things, or to the same or a closely allied subject or object, may be regarded as *in pari materia*. Statutes which have a common purpose or the same common purpose, or are parts of the same general scheme or plan or aimed at accomplishing the same results, may be regarded as *in pari materia*." <u>Singleton v. Larson</u>, 46 So. 2d 186, 190 (Fla. 1950). Sections 843.01 and 776.051 are to be read *in pari materia* to each other for cases involving resisting arrest. <u>See State v. Espinosa</u>, 686 So. 2d 1345, 1347 (Fla. 1996); <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 740 So. 2d 89 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999).

On July 1, 1975, the legislature modified the common-law rule on force to resist an unlawful arrest by enacting § 776.051. Lowery v. State, 356 So. 2d 1325 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978). Thereafter, a defendant could not resist with violence against a reasonably known police officer notwithstanding the technical illegality of the arrest. Lowery, 356 So. 2d at 1326. The Lowery court explained that a

18

defendant could no longer contest the illegality of the arrest on the street but would have to do so **in court**. <u>Id.</u> Upon reading § 776.051(1) *in pari materia* with § 843.01, the issues of the legality of the arrest and the knowledge of the police officer's status are removed from § 843.01, the offense, and presented in § 776.051, the defense. <u>Espinosa</u>, 686 So. 2d at 1347.

Section 776.051(1), Fla. Stat. (2002), which is entitled "Use of force in resisting or making an arrest; prohibition," states that "[a] person is not justified in the use of force to resist an arrest by a law enforcement officer who is known, or reasonably appears, to be a law enforcement officer." This statute is found within Chapter 776 of the Florida Statutes entitled "Justifiable Use of Force." The entirety of Chapter 776 of the Florida Statutes includes affirmative defenses that a defendant can raise at trial to justify or defend against the State's charged offense.<sup>2</sup> Therefore, it is reasonable to interpret that by the legislature's inclusion of § 776.051 within a chapter of affirmative defenses, the legislature intended § 776.051 to be an affirmative defense to related statutes and not an essential element of the offense in the related statute.

In addition to the inclusion of § 776.051 within an affirmative defense chapter, this Court has included the language of § 776.051 in the standard jury instructions for justifiable use of nondeadly and deadly force, which are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Chapter 776 includes use of force in defense of person (§776.012), use of force in defense of others (§ 776.031), use of force by the aggressor (§ 776.041), etc.

affirmative defense instructions to the use of force. Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim) 3.94 (d,e) ("A person is not justified in using force to resist an arrest by a law enforcement officer who is known to be or reasonably appears to be a law enforcement officer."). "An affirmative defense is a defense which admits the cause of action, but avoids liability, in whole or in part, by alleging an excuse, justification, or other matter negating or limiting liability." St. Paul Mercury Ins. Co. v. Coucher, 837 So. 2d 483, 487 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003) (citing to Henry P. Trawick, Jr., Florida Practice & Procedure § 11-4, at 205 (2000 ed.)). Based upon the inclusion of the language of § 776.051 in the affirmative defense instructions on the use of force, the State submits that this Court has already determined that the knowledge of the police officer's status is a defense to an offense that includes force, or violence, and is not an essential element to the offense that includes force, or violence, as alleged by Defendant.

Furthermore, in the case at bar, the prosecutors' closing arguments were not improper in light of §§ 843.01 and 776.051 being read *in pari materia*. Section 776.051 states that a defendant should know that an officer was an officer **or** that an officer reasonably appears to be a police officer. The use of the conjunction "or" allows for either option to satisfy the knowledge element. If there was evidence to prove that the officer reasonably appeared to be an officer, the jury can reach the verdict that a defendant is guilty of resisting arrest with violence regardless of the defendant's subjective belief of the officer's status. Any contrary construction of §§ 776.051 and 843.01 would completely undermine the alternatives of constructive and actual knowledge recognized in § 776.051.

The prosecutors argued during closing arguments that there was sufficient evidence to prove that Defendant knew that Officer Munoz was an officer and that Defendant reasonably should have known that Officer Munoz was an officer. (R. 240-241, 252-254). These arguments do not mislead the jury as to the knowledge element under § 776.051; therefore, the prosecutors' comments were not erroneous and do not constitute reversible error. Also, in the case at bar, the only defense was that Defendant did not know that Officer Munoz was an officer. There was no defense that Defendant should not have reasonably known that Officer Munoz was an officer. Therefore, the jury properly found that Defendant could have reasonably known that Officer Munoz was an officer and rendered the verdict of guilty.

# C. The Third District's Opinion that Knowledge of the Victim's Status is Not an Essential Element of the § 843.01 is Consistent with this Court's Opinions that § 843.01 is a General Intent Crime.

In <u>Frey v. State</u>, 708 So. 2d 918 (Fla. 1998), this Court held that resisting arrest with violence is a general intent offense and not a specific intent offense.

This Court explained that "specific intent' is to designate a special mental element which is required above and beyond any mental state required with respect to the actus reus of the crime." Id. at 919 (citation from Wayne R. LaFave & Austin W. Scott, Jr., Substantive Criminal Law § 3.5(e) (1986)). Under this premise, the Court reasoned that the plain language of resisting with violence "reveals that no heightened or particularized, i.e., no specific, intent is required for the commission of this crime, only a general intent to 'knowingly and willfully' impede an officer in the performance of his or her duties." Id. See also Colson v. State, 73 So. 2d 862 (Fla. 1954) (this Court rejected the defendant's claim of intoxication to negate resisting with violence and stated that "there was competent evidence to prove that resistance to the sheriff was 'knowingly and willfully' done" and that "whether or not defendant had enough left to know what he was doing was a question for the jury"). In other words, resisting with violence requires knowledge of the actus reus, but does not include any special mental element above and beyond committing the act. In particular, this Court stated that the statute must be recast as follows to include a heightened intent beyond the general intent to perform the act: "[w]hoever knowingly and willfully resists . . . an officer . . . in the lawful execution of any legal duty, with the intent of doing violence to the person of such officer . . . is guilty of a felony of the third degree." Frey, 708 So. 2d at 920 n2 (emphasis added).

The determination that resisting with violence is a general intent crime based on the plain language of the statute supports the conclusion that the knowledge element of the offense is minimal rather than heightened. The minimal knowledge within the resisting with violence statute is knowledge of the act being done. There is no heightened knowledge element of the officer's status within the plain language of the statute or within the conclusion that resisting with violence is a general intent crime.

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